

Defining Potential Market Growth of Innovative Applications for Military and Commercial Use in Soft Robotics

by Lillian S Olkkola, Vanessa M Townsend, and Claudia Quigley

Approved for public release: distribution unlimited.

NOTICES

Disclaimers

The findings in this report are not to be construed as an official Department of the Army position unless so designated by other authorized documents.

Citation of manufacturer's or trade names does not constitute an official endorsement or approval of the use thereof.

Destroy this report when it is no longer needed. Do not return it to the originator.





Defining Potential Market Growth of Innovative Applications for Military and Commercial Use in Soft Robotics

Claudia Quigley Office of the Director, DEVCOM Army Research Laboratory

Lillian S Olkkolla and Vanessa M Townsend National Security Innovation Network X-Force Fellows

Approved for public release: distribution unlimited.

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE					Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188	
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing the burden, to Department of Defense, Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports (0704-0188), 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302. Respondents should be aware that notwithstanding any other provision of law, no person shall be subject to any penalty for failing to comply with a collection of information if it does not display a currently valid OMB control number.						
1. REPORT DATE (DD-MM-YYYY)	2. REPORT TYPE			3. DATES COVERED (From - To)	
February 2022		Technical Report			14 June–11 August 2021	
4. TITLE AND SUB		1			5a. CONTRACT NUMBER	
		th of Innovative A	pulications for M	ilitary and		
Defining Potential Market Growth of Innovative Ap Commercial Use in Soft Robotics			pplications for M	intary and	5b. GRANT NUMBER	
				SD. GRANT NOWBER		
					5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER	
6. AUTHOR(S)					5d. PROJECT NUMBER	
Lillian S Olkko	ola, Vanessa M To	ownsend, and Clau	dia Quigley			
					5e. TASK NUMBER	
					5f. WORK UNIT NUMBER	
7. PERFORMING C	ORGANIZATION NAME	(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)			8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER	
DEVCOM Arr	ny Research Labo	oratory				
ATTN: FCDD	-RLD-FR				ARL-TR-9393	
Burlington, M.	A 01803					
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRES			SS(ES)		10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)	
					11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S)	
12. DISTRIBUTION	I/AVAILABILITY STATE	MENT				
Approved for r	oublic release: dis	tribution unlimited.				
13. SUPPLEMENT	ARY NOTES					
14. ABSTRACT						
Soft robotic technology, along with the advancements in its applications, has come a long way from its inception. By						
reviewing the fundamentals, potential market, and future of soft robotics, this research addresses clarity over the potential that						
some of these use cases have either separately or concurrently in military and commercial markets. Breaking down the						
potential applications given the current market provides an engineered prediction of how the industry will grow and how it						
will make a meaningful impact on robotic technology. Using the advantages and limitations named in this report can be used						
to advance the current methodology of soft robots, and can reduce the limitations in future research. This report discusses an overall review of soft robotics, as well as predictions for future applications that can be distributed for further research.						
15. SUBJECT TERMS						
soft robotics, manipulators, soft machine grippers, actuators, soft exoskeletons						
16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF:			17. LIMITATION	18. NUMBER	19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON	
			OF ABSTRACT	OF PAGES	Claudia Quigley	
a. REPORT	b. ABSTRACT	c. THIS PAGE	UU	26	19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER (Include area code)	
Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified	00	20	(781) 238-8485	

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8/98) Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39.18

Contents

1.	Introduction				
2.	What is Soft Robotics?				
3.	Material Composition				
4.	Benefits and Limitations	3			
5.	Applications	4			
	5.1 Military	4			
	5.2 Medical	5			
	5.3 Soft Machine Grippers	6			
6.	Dual-Use Applications for Military and Commercial Industries	7			
7.	Cyborg Industry	8			
8.	Market	9			
9.	Soft Robotic Companies	9			
10.	The Future of Soft Robotics	10			
11.	Conclusion	11			
12.	References	12			
List	of Symbols, Abbreviations, and Acronyms	20			
Dist	ribution List	21			

1. Introduction

The US Army Combat Capabilities Development Command Army Research Laboratory is actively developing soft robotics technology and would like to identify other military applications for this technology. These military applications could be medical, expeditionary, or logistical. Ideally, these applications would also fill a commercial need so they could potentially be dual-use applications. In identifying these applications, market research was performed to support material and performance parameters, manufacturing methods, and specific research gaps needed to make these applications a reality.

The emphasis on military and commercial applications keeps the Third Offset Strategy in line. This strategy seeks to outmaneuver advantages made by top adversaries primarily through technology that makes the industry able to innovate. Keeping the commercial markets technologically advanced will help with military advancements, which will deter any opposing powers.¹ Beyond the current capability of soft robotic systems, looking at the potential growth of the market and applications can be beneficial to the research conducted to advance these technologies.

2. What is Soft Robotics?

Soft robotics is a subset of robotics that focuses on the use of flexible and malleable materials, which draws from the way living organisms move and adapt to their surroundings. Most soft robotic systems have a set of key components that include actuators, sensors, and controllers. These include microcontrollers, power supplies, tethers, soft materials, and regulators within these three main categories. The easiest way to tell if a robot is a soft robot is whether or not it is resilient. Exploring the three key components of actuation, sensing, and control can unlock the potential growth in these areas that can lead to development and advancement in soft robotics.²

Sensors are used as windows from the robotic system into the environment. Sensors allow the physical measurement of geometric and physical properties. These may include velocity, force, position, distance, orientation, size, moment, weight, luminance, and so on. Sensors can be internal or external. Internal sensors tell information about the robot itself, while external sensors gather information about the surrounding environment.^{3,4} The various properties used to describe a sensor's capabilities are sensitivity, linearity, accuracy, repeatability, response time, resolution, dynamic range, and bandwidth. There are common sensors used in

robotic systems, which are now being manipulated into soft robotic systems (Table 1).

Sensor type	Sensor name	Sensor application
Transducer	Light	Solar power, light resistance, power, camera operative systems
	Sound	Microphones, voice recognition
Proximity	Object detection	Collision avoidance, surrounding awareness
Tactile	Logistical	Obstacle avoidance, packaging processes
Temperature	Thermistor	Detect temperature changes as voltage output
Navigation	Accelerometer/rotation sensor	GPS

Table 1Sensors used in robotic systems

All of these sensors can be manipulated into soft robotic systems, either by changing the material composition of the sensor or its placement.⁵ Soft robots have been limited due to their lack of good sensing capabilities, which is still a problem but researching material capabilities and manipulations of the sensor itself are bettering the industry as a whole.⁶ If a robot cannot sense what is going on or what it is doing, then the system is not relevant to a purpose, which is why sensing research is so important.

Actuation is how the system moves and operates. There are many types of actuators, and each has its advantages and disadvantages depending on the application and system's purpose. Pneumatic artificial muscles (PAMs) or McKibben actuators are extensional devices operated by pressurized air filling a pneumatic bladder.⁷ Fluidic elastomer actuators are actuators composed of low-durometer rubber and driven by relatively low-pressure fluid in the range of 3 to 8 psi.⁸ There are also nontraditional methods of actuation for different uses. A good example of this is using rotating magnetic fields to guide ice-encapsulated origami soft robots to different stomach wounds.⁹ Actuation in soft robotics is usually done through variable-length tendons or pneumatic actuation. Regardless of the actuation method, soft actuators are frequently arranged in a biologically inspired agonist–antagonist arrangement to allow bi-directional actuation.³

Soft robotics has a promising impact in a variety of fields. Specifically, control theory and control engineering with adaptive sensors, actuators, energy sources, and materials require new canonical plant models with complex spatiotemporal characteristics. Control has a large incentive on the production of soft robotics with the ability to tackle the challenges of control for high-degree-of-freedom dynamical

systems.¹⁰ Control modules are usually rigid, which is a limitation in soft systems due to their need for flexibility. Using inflation can allow a one-chambered robot to have multiple degrees of freedom with a rigid control panel.¹¹

3. Material Composition

Robotic systems are considered soft robots mainly due to their material composition. The material composition can help a robot be classified as a soft robot, but a soft robot is not constrained by the typical Cartesian coordinate system and has numerous degrees of freedom. Unlike the control of rigid bodies, whose movements can be described by six degrees of freedom, the movements of soft bodies cannot be confined to planar motions. Soft materials are elastic and can bend, twist, stretch, compress, buckle, wrinkle, and so on. Such motion can be viewed as offering an infinite number of degrees of freedom—a fact that makes the control of soft robots very challenging. Controlling soft robots requires new approaches to modeling, control, dynamics, and high-level planning.³ Material science is one of the key drivers in the soft robotics industry due to the capabilities of different materials. This includes the materials themselves as well as the different modeling software and ideologies used to plan the overall fabrication of a soft robot.^{3,12}

In addition, having more advanced stretchable conductors would advance the soft robotics industry. Stretchable conductors are needed to make more sophisticated robots that are still entire soft-bodied systems.¹³ In addition to the need for stretchable conductors, there is also a need for lighter-weight materials. This partially pertains to the electronics of soft robots as this would give more implementation of soft robots on a more nano-scale.¹⁴ There is research that more soft robots can possess these qualities in the future by having self-regenerating or self-healing properties.¹⁵ These properties are important for the future of soft robotics as they will allow dangerous and tedious tasks to be delegated away from Soldiers and can be fully automated, especially in times of war on the battlefield.¹³

4. Benefits and Limitations

Soft robotic systems have many benefits, but also some limitations. A benefit includes the capability to manipulate flexible materials. Some of these tasks include packaging fragile goods like eggs, fruits, and vegetables and being able to work alongside humans, unlike hard robots. The soft materials that "soft" robotics tend to center around opens up a plethora of new opportunities for robots to better integrate with human day-to-day activities.¹⁶ This is what gives soft robotics an advantage and what most of the applications center around. Soft robots are also

cheap to produce. Similar to the entire discipline of "hard" robotics, "soft" robotics has common characteristics, but depending on the use case and method of manufacturing this can vary greatly. With this in mind as a general commonality, the materials required for the makeup of the soft parts of a "soft" robot generally tend to be inexpensive.¹⁷

Cheap production comes at a cost, as these inexpensive materials generally are not developed with longevity in mind. So while the materials may not be costly to manufacture, they can be costly to maintain.¹⁸ This can be deemed a potential limitation to the market applications to soft robotics as consumers do not want to constantly have to replace products. Though a consumer may have to replace parts, having soft and lightweight robots can be cheaper to produce, manufacture, and transport.¹⁹ There will always be a trend toward innovation and adaptation both in the market and battlefield so in working with cheaper materials, and although complex in design, soft robotics has the potential to push robotics in a newer direction.¹

Soft robotic system limitations include the inability of being precise due to pliable materials. Unlike "hard" robots, "soft" robots are not nearly as able to execute tasks with a similar precision or accuracy. The benefits of "soft" robotics are what inhibit its precision. The soft, flexible, and lightweight materials do not allow for easily planned or predictable movements. Along with this, tethers are necessary for larger applications. With the goal of soft robots being able to self-repair, and be flexible and lightweight, there is one thing that ties it down: the power source. The power source of a system that is not able to be on the body of the robot itself then leads to a tethered design for longer life capability and higher power output.²⁰ For more intricate applications that require an intensive amount of computing that the material's properties could not perform, having some sort of electrical or base station is necessary.

5. Applications

5.1 Military

Coming up with military applications for soft robotics is based on selecting tasks that are too redundant, too dangerous, and/or can enhance surveillance or troop performance. Something important to keep in mind is the overall goals for robotics in the US Army. One of the most prevalent strategies is the Robotics and Autonomous Systems (RAS) Strategy:¹

The RAS Strategy established five priorities:

- 1) Increase situational awareness
- 2) Lighten Soldiers' physical and cognitive workloads
- 3) Sustain the force with increased distribution, throughput, and efficiency
- 4) Facilitate movement and maneuver
- 5) Protect the force

By developing a plethora of robots for the military, the Department of Defense has inadvertently caused an "Accidental Robot Evolution".¹ Brought on by the onset of wars in Afghanistan and Iraq, these robots were originally made for completing monotonous or dangerous tasks for our troops. Despite the still-large need and desire for these kinds of robots, there is a bigger trend toward ones that can work alongside humans to implement these tasks.¹ With this human–robot team trend there also comes a need for more information on the battlefield. This information acquisition is yet another task that can be taken away from troops and become almost fully automated. Soft robots can easily fulfill this need by their inherent environmental adaptability.¹ These same robots can also be used for search and rescue operations.

5.2 Medical

While the military use cases are more centered on removing the dangerous and monotonous aspects of service, applications that are deemed suitable for the commercial industry are based on human safety, enhancement, and demand.

End-of-life or beginning-of-life care is one of the few applications that could make a major impact on the future of medical care in the form of human enhancement; however, this vision is usually accompanied by a more humanoid-looking robot, similar to Baymax from Big Hero 6.²¹ While the industry is seeing some humanoid robots today,^{22,23} it is predicted that robots actually will not look like humans. This is due to the form factor of humans, which wastes a lot of energy to make simple movements that would otherwise be challenging or expends a lot of energy for a robot to be able to replicate. It makes more sense to take a task and then create a robot to be able to execute the task with as little energy expended and as efficiently as possible.¹

While there is still a desire for humanoid robots, it is easy to foresee soft robots that are simple task-oriented robots. Non-humanoid task-oriented soft and hard robots already exist—like a robot assisting stair climbing in a wheelchair,²⁴ assisting with sit-to-stand motions,²⁵ assisting with walking,^{26–28} and even small tasks such as

putting on knit caps or hats,²⁹ all of which display an interest in end-of-life care in the robotics industry.

Similarly, there are even predictions that soft robotics will also make an appearance for beginning-of-life care as well. While there have been significant strides for how safe a soft robot can be working alongside humans,³⁰ there still is not enough research to truly be able to comment on the potential of end-of-life care robots being capable of beginning-of-life care.

5.3 Soft Machine Grippers

Soft machine gripper applications have the most longevity out of the rest of the soft robotic applications. However, most of the current manipulators are still in early research or struggling to get popularized in the commercial markets. Soft robotic manipulators are typically inspired by soft animals³¹ or can take inspiration from the human hand,^{32–34} octopi/squid,^{3,31} and many other soft marine or land animals.^{3,31}

Breaking it down further, soft manipulation can be defined into three different grasping categories: actuation, stiffness, and adhesion. Each has different object types/shapes they are best suited for, and most have a combination of the two methods.³⁵

One of the primary challenges to making a soft manipulator is that there is no standardized software to project how the manipulator will interact with its desired pickup object.^{3,32,34} While promising software solutions are out there, they either cannot predict micro-deformations of the system or have a limited amount of data overall of different materials.³² Inability to properly predict the soft material's maneuverability is an overall problem of soft robotics,^{3,32} however, this is particularly an issue for the control and sensor subsystem of the soft robotic manipulator application.^{31,32} This is in part due to the issue of determining how rigid or soft the manipulator should be in addition to the number of degrees of freedom.³² It is both a benefit of soft manipulators and also where its challenges show. The more degrees of freedom and softer the manipulator is, the less precision and ability to project the minute movements and load-bearing capabilities of the system.^{3,33,35} Yet, it can handle more delicate materials due to less force being exerted on the object.^{32,33,35} On the other hand, the more rigid the soft manipulator, the more force that can be exerted and more precision and ability to model and project the movements of the system.^{32,33} Therefore, not only is it important to determine the desired application for the soft manipulator to determine how soft or rigid the manipulator should be, but to also determine the grasping method for each application.

Commercial Applications of Grippers

Speaking of applications, soft grippers have the opportunity to perpetuate the packaging and manufacturing industries in a way that has not been seen before. An example of this is quality control for the agricultural industry. Due to the delicate and pliable nature of soft manipulators, there is potential for a hand that could be used to determine whether or not foods are ripe enough to be packaged.^{3,31–33,36} This can be similarly applied to automate the harvesting process too.^{3,31–33,36} Another one of the primary reasons for the push of soft manipulators in the agricultural sector is that they can be made out of food-safe materials and easily sanitized to meet food-handling standards.^{33,36} Lastly, soft grippers have a lot of versatility.³⁴ If a company changes its packaging or product the soft manipulator is handling, it is possible to reprogram the system to accommodate the new product.³⁶ There has even been a push toward biodegradable or even edible soft manipulators to further ensure food safety and to satiate environmental concerns.³³

6. Dual-Use Applications for Military and Commercial Industries

The commercial market applications are important to explain, but the applications that are able to be dual-use are the ones that will continue to innovate and perpetuate soft robotics technology.

The medical industry is arguably the largest industry that will be impacted by these dual-use applications. Extremely niche problems can be addressed, like an ingestible stomach-wound patcher for when coin batteries or other hazardous-chemical-emitting substances⁹ are accidentally swallowed or to magnetically control microbiological soft robots responsible for dispensing necessary chemicals internally with minimal invasiveness.³⁷ Both of these uses have the potential to address stomach issues or function as drug carriers for necessary internal medicinal treatments. Even so, the potential exists for more general first-aid administration that focuses on soft materials with atypical adhesion properties for "tissue regeneration and wound repair."³⁸ With its malleable, self-healing, and waterproof characteristics, hydrogel soft robotic first-aid technology could be extremely beneficial in an emergency or expeditionary situation for our troops.

7. Cyborg Industry

The soft robotic cyborg industry relates to the soft exoskeletons, muscle enhancement, and prosthetics currently in either the research or market stages. There are plenty of dual-use military and commercial applications that they could satiate.

In the case of the military, troops on expeditions or in the reserves doing repetitive tasks or carrying heavy gear (which could include ammunition, food/water, protective equipment, and any other necessary items) would be able to benefit from such a technology. There are already robots created specifically for more unstable environments, like the third generation of the Human Universal Load Carrier (HULC) exoskeleton.³⁹ Furthermore, the Berkeley Robotics & Human Engineering Laboratory (University of California Berkeley) has not neglected the commercial markets either with the creation of the eLEGs for those with mobility disorders and the prior generations of the HULC—the ExoHiker⁴⁰ and ExoClimber⁴¹—both aptly named for their target demographic. Another good example of a soft cyborg robot approaching the gap between research and becoming a commercially viable product, otherwise known as the "valley of death", would be XoSoft,⁴² an exoskeleton that is more focused on the elderly and mobility disorders.⁴³

There is plenty of research on and prototypes created for cyborgs. The current research for soft robotic cyborgs focuses on activities of daily living,⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶ sensing and actuation innovation or issues relating to the implementation of soft cyborg robots,47-53 and prototypes of soft cyborg robots^{54–57} making a seamless transition toward robot–human interactions. What is needed for this application to flourish is either smaller integrations of human and soft robot interactions like ErgoTac,⁵⁸ or better simulation and modeling software. Testing soft cyborg robots, similar to soft manipulators, in a virtual environment would yield more statistics for reliability and manufacturability. However, unlike the soft manipulators, there is a greater need for soft robotic cyborg solutions for muscle optimization, elderly, or mobility disorders with a continually growing aging population. Research shows promising results in implementing software capable of properly forecasting robotic hand movements⁵⁹ as well as humanoid robot walking frameworks,^{60,61} which could precipitate similar research and improvements for cyborg enhancements as a whole. It is important to stress the possible software development for modeling applications and designing soft robotic cyborg applications, as there is a good chance it would address the overall limitation of soft robotics being unreliable, which is important for the ability of soft robots working with or side by side with humans.

8. Market

The soft robotics' market is fairly new, since the industry just began increasing in the past 20 years. However, the soft robotic market was globally valued at \$645.45 million in 2019 and is expected to reach \$4.97 billion by 2025 at a compound annual growth rate of 40.5% over the forecast period (2020–2025).^{1,62} Beyond the robotic market itself, robotic systems are only as capable as their computers. Artificial intelligence (AI) in robotics not only helps discover the model to perform certain tasks, but also makes machines more intelligent to act in several scenarios.⁶³ Currently, there is a \$153 billion market for AI-enabled technology, with an estimated annual creative *disruption impact* of \$14–33 trillion.¹ Since robotics has so many applications and industries, the market is usually broken up between industries. There are implications for the service robotics market size to double from 2021 to 2027.⁶⁴

9. Soft Robotic Companies

Robotic companies that specialize in the innovation of soft robotics are impacting the market drastically. Most companies make soft grippers, which can vary in size, utility, and purpose. The most widely known soft robotics commercial company is Soft Robotics Inc. with 51–200 employees.⁶⁵ Even with the pandemic going on, they raised \$10 million to meet pandemic food packaging demands caused by COVID-19.66 Since the company's inception, its technology platform has experienced substantial customer validation and adoption with over 80% year-overyear revenue growth and production installations running 24/7 for Fortune 500 companies.⁶⁷ The company's technology is already installed in 30 facilities in Europe, North America, and Japan. Customers for the technology span across industries, such as e-commerce, advanced manufacturing, and food and beverage production.⁶⁷ As of FY 2019, Soft Robotics Inc has a revenue of \$26.4 million, 75 employees, and its investors include FANUC Corp, Calibrate Ventures, and Material Impact.⁶⁷ mGrip and SuperPick are the two most commonly consumed products from Soft Robotics Inc. mGrip is an on-demand, soft robotic modular gripping system, and a SuperPick is designed specifically for e-commerce, grocery, retail, and logistics environments.⁶⁷ IAM Robotics is a competitor company to Soft Robotics Inc due to its focus on logistical problems and supply chain problems.⁶⁸ They were founded in 2012 and have 80 employees.⁶⁸ They have a product similar to the MGrip called I AM SWIFT, which has a soft robotics gripper that can also autonomously move about in addition to being able to pick up various-sized objects with its octopus biologically inspired vacuum gripper.⁶⁹ IAM Robotics has raised \$21 million in venture capital funding.⁷⁰ Empire Robotics Inc used particle

jamming as the primary gripping mechanism. It ultimately went out of business due to being unable to commercialize its own soft robotic gripper technology.⁷¹ Despite its failure, they managed to raise substantial amounts of money for the startup raising a total of \$1.7 million—showing that there is still a desire to breach the valley of death.⁷² Since there are not many current soft robotic consumer goods, it is difficult to make ample conjectures about the success of any future soft robotic goods. Having little to no media presence makes it difficult for the industry to make a meaningful impact. Big Hero 6²¹ is an incredible depiction of soft robotics and the potential of the market, especially in the medical field; however, since it is a Disney animation movie, no one sees the reality of Baymax and the ideology in the movie.

10. The Future of Soft Robotics

After interviewing 16 industry professionals and researching their work, it is evident that the ability to develop future military and commercial applications is important for the prediction of the soft robotic industry's future. The goal of this research is to identify different use-case scenarios that will remove laborious or dangerous tasks from the troops.

Snake-like robots are a common research phenomenon for soft robotics. In an interview with military professional Brigadier General Peter Green, as well as PhD student John Garrett Williamson, snake-like robots were brought up as an ideal future application. Using the Stanford's Everting Tube Robot as an example, these robots can get into small and confined spaces like under doorways and around rocks.⁷³ They can be quiet, small, and squishy, which is important for search and rescue applications—especially in the military.^{74,75} Being able to explore unknown spaces and not get stuck, flip over, and so on, is a potential benefit of the snake design.⁷⁶ These robots can also be used for more than search and rescue, such as cave exploration.^{18,77} Snake-like robots can clean a skyscraper's windows, which is typically a laborious task. This specific idea came from interviewing Harvard fabrication specialist Christopher Hansen. The current methodology to clean a skyscraper's windows is very archaic; the cleaners have to go up on different lifting mechanisms and manually clean the windows themselves with safety tools, climbing tools, and cleaning supplies.⁷⁸ If soft-snake robots could be the "human" doing the dangerous task of being lifted hundreds of feet in the air cleaning windows, it could help mediate dangerous and laborious job risks.

There is a high demand for soft robots in the construction industry as they would significantly speed the timeframe to complete a job that would otherwise take much longer to do. Finishing a job more safely and timely can also help with the satisfaction of workers. This idea could be taken from the same arm idea used for the badminton robot with the potential control of a soft robot.⁷⁹ Soft robotics will be extremely beneficial to use on construction sites, as construction is one of the more predominant environments where humans work extremely closely with machines. There are roughly 150,000 construction-site-accident injuries each year according to the Bureau of Labor Statistics.⁸⁰ Installing drywall is just as laborious as cleaning a skyscraper's windows and could benefit from the integration of soft robotics. In interviews with Drs Michael Keller and Joshua Schultz of the University of Tulsa, the idea of installing drywall became apparent as a necessary advantage soft robotics could bring to the construction industry. The soft robotic system is capable of installing drywall as the task requires the installer to have both a degree of delicacy and precision.

Overall, soft robotics has too many denominations of impact to name in this report. Beyond what was mentioned previously, there are limitless possibilities for soft robots and surrounding industries. One notable impact for the industry would be more efficient 3-D printing for soft robots.^{32,81} The 3-D printing market will grow with the acknowledgment of advancements in soft robots. The future is undetermined, but there are promising predictions for the capabilities of these systems.

11. Conclusion

The discussion of soft robotics, and the industry's potential, is a discussion for materials and robotics experts. This research is a review of information published, interviews conducted, and authentic ideas contributed by X-Force Fellows from the National Security Innovation Network. Defining gaps in the soft robotics industry can show the potential for market growth and applications in different industries. More research and testing needs to be conducted on potential applications to fully comprehend the abilities soft robotics can bring to both the military and commercial industries. Using marketing predictions and application ideas can narrow down the testing and manufacturing needed to deliver a prototype of these futuristic soft robotic systems.

12. References

- Mad scientist robotics, artificial intelligence, & autonomy visioning multidomain warfare in 2030–2050. Mad Scientist Conference; 2017 Mar 7–8. http://www.worldinwar.eu/wpcontent/uploads/2017/09/Mad_Scientist_Georgia_Tech_AI_Robotics_Auton omy.pdf.
- Dou W, Zhong G, Cao J, Shi Z, Peng B, Jiang L. Soft robotic manipulators: designs, actuation, stiffness tuning, and sensing. Adv Mater Technol. 2021;6(9):2100018. https://www.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/admt.202100018.
- 3. Rus D, Tolley MT. Design, fabrication and control of soft robots. Nature. 2015;521:467–475. https://www.nature.com/articles/nature14543.
- 4. Leitch A. Pneumatic deformation sensors. Soft Robotics Toolkit; n.d. [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. https://softroboticstoolkit.com/pds.
- Sensors in robotics 7 common sensors used in robots [editorial]. RoboticsBiz; 2019 Nov 25. https://roboticsbiz.com/sensors-in-robotics-7-common-sensorsused-in-robots/.
- Gordon R. Giving soft robots senses. MIT Computer Science & Artificial Intelligence Lab; 2020 June. https://www.csail.mit.edu/news/giving-softrobots-senses.
- Daerden F, Lefeber D. Pneumatic artificial muscles: actuators for robotics and automation. Eur J Mec Environ Eng. 2002;47:11–21. http://www.robotikk.com/inf5207/Daerden_Lefeber_EJMEE.pdf.
- 8. Marchese AD, Katzschmann RK, Rus D. A recipe for soft fluidic elastomer robots. Soft Robot. 2015;2(1):7–25. org/10.1089/soro.2014.0022.
- Miyashita S, Guitron S, Yoshida K, Li S, Damian D, Rus D. Ingestible, controllable, and degradable origami robot for patching stomach wounds. 2016 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA); 2016 May 16–21; Stockholm, Sweden. IEEE; c2016. p. 909–916, 10.1109/ICRA.2016.7487222.
- Nguewou-Hyousse H, Franchi G, Paley D. Microfluidic circuit dynamics and control for caterpillar-inspired locomotion in a soft robot. IEEE Conference on Control Technology and Applications (CCTA). 2018 Sep. IEEE; c2018. p. 286–293. http://cdcl.umd.edu/papers/ccta18.pdf.

- Williamson JG, Schell C, Keller M, Schultz J. Extending the reach of singlechamber inflatable soft robots using magnetorheological fluids. 2021 IEEE 4th International Conference on Soft Robotics (RoboSoft); 2021 July. IEEE; c2021. p. 119–125. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9479295.
- 12. Wang Y, Shang L, Chen G, Sun L, Zhang X, Zhao Y. Bioinspired structural color patch with anisotropic surface adhesion. Sci Adv. 2020;6(4). https://advances.sciencemag.org/content/6/4/eaax8258.
- Mousavi S, Howard G, Wang C-H. 3D printing stretchable conductors for soft robotics. 27th European Advanced Materials Congress (EAMC); 2019 August 11–14;
 Stockholm, Sweden. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/339800467_3D_Printing_Stretchab le Conductors for Soft Robotics.
- 14. Dorsey KL, Lazarus N. Lifetime of liquid metal wires for stretchable devices. Adv Mater Technol; 2021;6(4):2001100. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/admt.202001100.
- Bilodeau RA, Kramer RK. Self-healing and damage resilience for soft robotics: a review. Front Robot AI. 2017 Oct 3. https://doaj.org/article/0b753b64163e465d8c947156eaa07616.
- Papanastasiou S, Kousi N, Karagiannis P, Gkournelos C, Papavasileiou A, Dimoulas K, Baris K, Koukas S, Michalos G, Makris S. Towards seamless human robot collaboration: integrating multimodal interaction. Int J Adv Manuf Technol. 2019;105:3881–3897. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs00170-019-03790-3.
- Pang G, Yang G, Heng W, Ye Z, Huang X, Yang H-Y, Pang Z. CoboSkin: soft robot skin with variable stiffness for safer human-robot collaboration. IEEE Trans Ind Electron. 2021;68(4):3303–3314. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/stamp/stamp.jsp?arnumber=9036088.
- Veritasium. This unstoppable robot could save your life. YouTube video; 2021. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qevIIQHrJZg&list=PLaUM10KAskagArMciM0EciuT4gU79xnu&index=2&t=142s.
- 19. Hirzinger G, Albu-Schaeffer A. Light-weight robots. Scholarpedia. 2008;3(4):3889. http://www.scholarpedia.org/article/Light-weight robots.
- 20. Kohanbash D. Tether's: Should your robot have one? robotsforroboticists.com; 2016 Sep 20 [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. http://robotsforroboticists.com/tethers/.

- 21. Wikimedia Foundation, Inc. Big Hero 6 (film). Wikipedia; 2021 August. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Big_Hero_6 (film)#Future.
- 22. Byford S. This cuddly Japanese robot bear could be the future of elderly care. The Verge. 2015 Apr [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. https://www.theverge.com/2015/4/28/8507049/robear-robot-bear-japanelderly.
- 23. Robot. SoftBank Corp. n.d. [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. https://www.softbank.jp/en/robot/.
- Sasaki K, Suzuki K. Active rotary-legs mechanism for stair-climbing mobility vehicle. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(3):2237–2244. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/8306906.
- 25. Takeda M, Hirata Y, Katayama T, Mizuta Y, Koujina A. State estimation using the cog candidates for sit-to-stand support system user. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(4):3011–3018. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8392427.
- 26. Li H-Y, Paranawithana I, Yang L, Lim TSK, Foong S, Ng FC, Tan U-X. Stable and compliant motion of physical human–robot interaction coupled with a moving environment using variable admittance and adaptive control. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(3):2493–2500. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/8307450.
- Andreetto M, Divan S, Ferrari F, Fontanelli D, Palopoli L. Simulating passivity for robotic walkers via authority-sharing. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(2):1306–1313. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8268107.
- Bevilacqua P, Frego M, Fontanelli D, Palopoli L. Reactive planning for Assistive Robots. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(2):1276–1283. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8263556.
- Twardon L, Ritter H. Learning to put on a knit cap in a head-centric policy space. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(2):764–771. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/8253834.
- Kim Taekyoung, Yoon SJ, Park Y-L. Soft inflatable sensing modules for safe and interactive robots. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(4):3216–3223. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8398422.
- Ilievski Filip, Mazzeo Aaron D, Shepherd Robert F, Chen Xin, Whitesides George M. Soft robotics for chemists. Angewandte Chemie International Edition. 2011;50(8):1890–1895.

- Hughes J, Culha U, Giardina F, Guenther F, Rosendo A, Iida F. Soft manipulators and grippers: a review. Front Robot Al. 2016 Jan. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/frobt.2016.00069/full#F2.
- Shintake J, Cacucciolo V, Floreano D, Shea H. Soft robotic grippers. Adv Mater. 2018;30(29):1707035. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/adma.201707035.
- 34. Billard A, Kragic D. Trends and challenges in robot manipulation. Science. 2019;364(6446). https://science.sciencemag.org/content/364/6446/eaat8414.
- Zhou X, Majidi C, O'Reilly OM. Soft hands: an analysis of some gripping mechanisms in soft robot design. Int J Solids Struct. 2015;64–65:155–165. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0020768315001365.
- Taylor Farms. Taylor Farms soft robotics. YouTube video. 2016 Oct. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VTVpfcdsaw8&list=PLaUM10KAskag A-rMciM0EciuT4gU79xnu&index=22.
- Kumar V, Steager E, Hunter E, Brink E. Toward soft micro bio robots for cellular and chemical delivery. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(3):1592– 1599. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8276282.
- Wang Y, Shang L, Chen G, Sun L, Zhang X, Zhao Y. Bioinspired structural color patch with anisotropic surface adhesion. Sci Adv. 2020;6(4). https://advances.sciencemag.org/content/6/4/eaax8258.
- 39. HULC. Berkeley Robotics & Human Engineering Laboratory. n.d. [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. https://bleex.me.berkeley.edu/research/exoskeleton/hulc/.
- 40. ExoHiker. Berkeley Robotics & Human Engineering Laboratory. n.d.[accessed2021Sep17].https://bleex.me.berkeley.edu/research/exoskeleton/exohiker/.
- 41. ExoClimber. Berkeley Robotics & Human Engineering Laboratory. n.d. [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. https://bleex.me.berkeley.edu/research/exoskeleton/exoclimber/.
- 42. XoSoft assistive modular solution. XoSoft. n.d. [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. https://www.xosoft.eu/solution.html.
- 43. Hudson J, Khazragui HF. Into the valley of death: research to innovation. Drug Discov Today. 2013;18(13–14):610–613. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1359644613000342.

- 44. Wang Z, Yi J, Chen X. A three-dimensional-printed soft robotic glove with enhanced ergonomics and force capability. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(1):242–248. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8004496.
- 45. Nabeshima C, Ayusawa K, Hochberg C, Yoshida, E. Standard performance test of wearable robots for lumbar support. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(3):2182–2189. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8304776.
- 46. Randazzo L, Iturrate I, Perdikis S, Millán JdR. mano: A wearable hand exoskeleton for activities of daily living and neurorehabilitation. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(1):500–507. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8100925.
- 47. Hughes D, Lammie J, Correll N. A robotic skin for collision avoidance and affective touch recognition. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(3):1386–1393. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/8272325.
- 48. Staman K, Veale AJ, van der Kooij H. The PREHydrA: a passive return, high force density, electro-hydrostatic actuator concept for wearable robotics. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(4):3569–3574. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8408751.
- 49. Ortiz J, Poliero T, Cairoli G, Graf E, Caldwell DG. Energy efficiency analysis and design optimization of an actuation system in a soft modular lower limb exoskeleton. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(1):484–491. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8093939.
- 50. Kim SJ, Chang H, Park J, Kim J. Design of a portable pneumatic power source with high output pressure for wearable robotic applications. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(4):4351–4358. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8430733.
- Zhou J, Yi J, Chen X, Liu Z, Wang Z. BCL-13: A 13-DOF soft robotic hand for dexterous grasping and in-hand manipulation. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(4):3379–3386. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8399511.
- 52. Wan T, Shang J, Gu Y, Kou L. Advanced sensor technology for soft robotics. Adv Mat Tech; Wiley Online Library. 2021 Aug. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/2365709x.
- 53. Sarikaya S, Gardea F, Auletta JT, Kavosi J, Langrock A, Mackie DM, Naraghi M. Athermal Artificial muscles with drastically improved work capacity from pH-Responsive coiled polymer fibers. Sens Actuators B Chem. 2021;335:129703.
 https://www.acianag.dimet.com/acianag/article/abs/mii/S0025400521002710

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0925400521002719.

- 54. Das S, Yusuke Kishishita Y, Tsuji T, Lowell C, Ogawa K, Kurita Y. ForceHand glove: a wearable force-feedback glove with pneumatic artificial muscles (pams). IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(3):2416–2423. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8309397.
- 55. Wang J, Li X, Huang T-H, Yu S, Li Y, Chen T, Carriero A, Oh-Park M, Su H. Comfort-centered design of a lightweight and backdrivable knee exoskeleton. arXiv.org; 2019 Feb. https://arxiv.org/abs/1902.03966.
- Toxiri S, Calanca A, Ortiz J, Fiorini P, Caldwell DG. A parallel-elastic actuator for a torque-controlled back-support exoskeleton. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(1):492–499, https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8093982.
- 57. Liang X, Cheong H, Sun Y, Guo J, Kong Chui C, Yeow C-H. Design, characterization, and implementation of a two-DOF fabric-based soft robotic arm. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(3):2702–2709. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8352854.
- 58. Kim W, Lorenzini M, Kapıcıoğlu K, Ajoudani A. ErgoTac: a tactile feedback interface for improving human ergonomics in workplaces. IEEE Robot Automat Lett. 2018;3(4):4179–4186. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8429071.
- 59. Garate VR, Pozzi M, Prattichizzo D, Tsagarakis N, Ajoudani A. Grasp stiffness control in robotic hands through coordinated optimization of pose and joint stiffness. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(4):3952–3959. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8417966.
- Piperakis S, Koskinopoulou M, Trahanias P. Nonlinear state estimation for humanoid robot walking. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(4):3347–3354. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8403285.
- Vantilt J, Giraddi C, Aertbelien E, De Groote F, De Schutter J. Estimating contact forces and moments for walking robots and exoskeletons using complementary energy methods. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(4):3410– 3417. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8403276.
- 62. Soft robotics market growth, trends, forecasts 2020–2025 market is expected to reach \$4.7 billion, at a CAGR OF 40.5% ResearchAndMarkets.com. Business Wire; 2020 Dec [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20201208005675/en/.
- 63. How artificial intelligence is used in robotics. Indika AI; 2021 July 26 [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. https://www.indikaai.com/blog/artificial-intelligence-and-robotics.

- 64. Professional service robots market size, industry report, 2027. Grand View Research Inc.; n.d. [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. https://www.grandviewresearch.com/industry-analysis/professional-servicerobots-market.
- 65. Soft Robotics Inc. | LinkedIn. n.d. [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. https://www.linkedin.com/company/soft-robotics-inc-.
- 66. Soft Robotics Inc. Food robotics leader soft robotics raises \$10M to meet pandemic-induced demand and bring its 3D vision and AI-powered solutions to market. 2021 June 29. https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/food-robotics-leader-soft-robotics-raises-10m-to-meet-pandemic-induced-demand-and-bring-its-3d-vision-and-ai-powered-solutions-to-market-301321728.html.
- 67. Mordor Intelligence. Sample: soft robotics market. n.d. [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. https://samples.mordorintelligence.com/58809/Sample%20-%20Soft%20Robotics%20Market%20(2021%20-%202026)%20-%20Mordor%20Intelligence.pdf.
- IAM robotics team: who we are: robotics and automation experts. IAM Robotics. 2021 June [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. https://www.iamrobotics.com/who-we-are/.
- 69. Swift robot: autonomous material picking robot with obstacle detection. IAM Robotics. 2021 May [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. https://www.iamrobotics.com/products/swift/.
- 70. IAM robotics: about. Crunchbase Inc. n.d. [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. https://www.crunchbase.com/organization/iam-robotics.
- Saunders S. Lessons learned: empire robotics explains failed attempt to commercialize soft robotics technology. 3DR Holdings. 2017 Jan. https://3dprint.com/162151/versaball-lessons-learned/.
- 72. Thimbleby H. Technology and the future of healthcare. J Public Health Res. 2013;2(3):e28. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4147743/.
- 73. Kubota T. Stanford researchers develop a new type of soft, growing robot. Stanford Bio-X. 2017 July 19 [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. https://biox.stanford.edu/highlight/stanford-researchers-develop-new-type-soft-growing-robot.
- 74. Luo M, Yan R, Wan Z, Qin Y, Santoso J, Skorina EH, Onal CD. OriSnake: design, fabrication, and experimental analysis of a 3-D origami snake robot.

IEEERobotAutomLett.2018;3(3):1993–1999.https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8276287.

- Nguewou-Hyousse H, Franchi G, Paley DA. Microfluidic circuit dynamics and control for caterpillar-inspired locomotion in a soft robot. 2018 IEEE Conference on Control Technology and Applications (CCTA); 2018 Aug 21– 24; Copenhagen, Denmark. IEEE; c2018. p. 286–293. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8511335.
- 76. Cao Z, Zhang D, Hu B, Liu J. Adaptive path following and locomotion optimization of snake-like robot controlled by the central pattern generator. Complexity. 2019;(2):1–13;8030374. https://www.hindawi.com/journals/complexity/2019/8030374/#conflicts-of-interest.
- 77. Kakogawa A, Jeon S, Ma S. Stiffness design of a resonance-based planar snake robot with parallel elastic actuators. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(2):1284– 1291. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8268091.
- 78. Everything you need to know about high-rise window cleaning. n.d. [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. https://psi-info.net/about/high-rise-window-cleaning-faq.php.
- 79. Mori S, Tanaka K, Nishikawa S, Niiyama R, Kuniyoshi Y. High-speed and lightweight humanoid robot arm for a skillful badminton robot. IEEE Robot Autom Lett. 2018;3(3):1727–1734. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/stamp/stamp.jsp?arnumber=8283704&casa_token =hKbc0tVEehkAAAAA:qNSZd1Pih4UDBdNdHhziR5mWTS-PY0UXn8zvZY7z1XI8LABAfKBv30XeyXsuLYZZtfjNn98.
- 80. Shelton M. Construction accident statistics. The Shelton Law Firm. 2018 Oct
 8 [accessed 2021 Sep 17]. https://www.msheltonlaw.com/blog/2018/10/08/construction-accident-statistics-193937.
- Hughes J, Culha U, Giardina F, Guenther F, Rosendo A, Iida F. Soft manipulators and grippers: a review. Front Robot AI. 2016 Nov 16. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/frobt.2016.00069/full#h8.

List of Symbols, Abbreviations, and Acronyms

3-D	three-dimensional
AI	artificial intelligence
FY	fiscal year

- GPS Global Positioning System
- HULC Human Universal Load Carrier
- PAMs pneumatic artificial muscles
- RAS Robotics and Autonomous Systems

- 1 DEFENSE TECHNICAL (PDF) INFORMATION CTR DTIC OCA
 - 1 DEVCOM ARL
- (PDF) FCDD RLD DCI TECH LIB
- 1 DEVCOM ARL
- (PDF) FCDD RLD FR C QUIGLEY
- 2 NATIONAL SECURITY INNOVATION NETWORK
- (PDF) X-FORCE FELLOWS LS OLKKOLA VM TOWNSEND